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Inventory Unit Summary & Site Plan

Inventory Summary

The Cultural Landscapes Inventory Overview:
CLI General Information:

Purpose and Goals of the CLI

The Cultural Landscapes Inventory (CLI), a comprehensive inventory of all cultural landscapes
in the national park system, is one of the most ambitious initiatives of the National Park Service
(NPS) Park Cultural Landscapes Program. The CLI is an evaluated inventory of all
landscapes having historical significance that are listed on or eligible for listing on the National
Register of Historic Places, or are otherwise managed as cultural resources through a public
planning process and in which the NPS has or plans to acquire any legal interest. The CLI
identifies and documents each landscapeis logatine, physical development, condition,
landscape characteristics, character-defining features, as well as other valuable information
useful to park management. Cultural landscapes become approved CLIs when concurrence
with the findings is obtained from the park superintendent and all required data fields are
entered into a national database. In addition, for landscapes that are not currently listed on the
National Register and/or do not have adequate documentation, concurrence is required from the
State Historic Preservation Officer or the Keeper of the National Register

The CLI, like the List of Classified Structuressists the NPS in its efforts to fulfill the
identification and management requirements associated with S&tf@) of the National

Historic Preservation AcfNational Park Service Management Policies (20&&), Directoris

Order #28: Cultural Resource Management. Since launching the CLI nationwide, the NPS, in
response to the Government Performance and Resul{&R&A), is required to report
information that respond to NPS strategic plan accomplishméws GPRA goals are

associated with the CLI: bringing certified cultural landscapes into good condition (Goal 1a7)
and increasing the number of CLI records that have complete, accurate, and reliable
information (Goal 1b2B).

Scope of the CLI

The information contained within the CLI is gathered from existing secondary sources found in
park libraries and archives and at NPS regional offices and ceagergll as through on-site
reconnaissance of the existing landscape. The baseline information collected provides a
comprehensive look at the historical development and significance of the landscape, placing it in
context of the siteis overall significand@ocumentation and analysis of the existing landscape
identifies character-defining characteristics and features, and allows for an evaluation of the
landscapeis overall integrity and an assessment of the landscapeis overall comtgi@i |

also provides an illustrative site plan that indicates major features within the inventory unit.
Unlike cultural landscape reports, the CLI does not provide management recommendations or

Cultural Landscapes Inventory Page 1 of 100



Arlington House, The Robert E. Lee Memorial
Arlington House, The Robert E. Lee Memorial

treatment guidelines for the cultural landscape.

Inventory Unit Description:

Inventory Unit Description:

Arlington House: The Robert E. Lee Memorial is a 16 acre site managed by the National Park Service
that is located within Arlington National Cemeteay600plus acre cemetery managed by the US Army

and located in Arlington County Virginia directly across the Potomac River from Washibgé@n The

site is a memorial to Robert E. Lee, and serves as a museum exhibiting decorative arts; archives;

music; gardens; manuscript collectio@$yil War memorabilia18th and 19th century furnishings and

relics of the Robert E. Lee and Custis families and the slaves who also lived on the property. These
objects can be found throughout the site: on the grounds, in the house itself, in the potting shed/museum
building and in the slave quarters.

The period of significance for Arlington Houskhe Robert E. Lee Memorial is 1802-1880. Three

periods associated with a sequence of historical development can be found within this time frame. One,
1802-1861 relates to the time that the Custis and Lee families used the estate as a rBsimence.
1861-1865s when Arlington was used as the headquarters for the Army of the Potomac during the

Civil War, and finally, 1865-1880 relates to the time when the site was transformed into a national
cemetery.

The 16 acre property is what remains of an 1,100 acre estate on the banks of the Potomac River that
was inherited by George Washington Parke C(&tigV.P. Custis), stegrandson of George
WashingtonCustis was the grandson of Martha Washington through her first maifagehis

natural father, John Parke Custis, died in 1781, G.@UBtis went to live at Mount Vernon where

George and Martha Washington raised him as their own son
(http://www.nps.gov/arho/historycultuggorgecustis.htm). This report will refer to G.W. P. Custis as
Washingtofs step-grandson. During his childho@ulistis became very attached to George Washington
who was said to regard G.W. P, Custis his own son. Arlington Estate, first known as Mount
Washingtonwas one of several estates owned by Custis and run by his slaves. It was more of a family
seat than an income-generating plantation like his ot@edis considered Arlington a memorial to his
stepgrandfather George Washingtd@ustis like Washingtonwas interested in advancements in
agriculture, but he was also a painter, a playwright, a lover of music and a storyteller. Thousands of
visitors came to the estate every year to enjoy social events and outings at ArlingtonaSpubiip

meeting place that Custis established in the southwest section of the estate on the banks of the Potomac
River.

The focal point of the estate, Arlington House, was set upon the highest topographic point of the estate
and was designed and built between the years of 1803k}/8%&8orge Hadfieldan English architect

who is known for designing numerous classical residences as well as Treasury BL86bign D.C .

and the District of Columbia City Hall (1820). The house is notable for being the first temple-form
residence built in the United States, and was purposefully set in a prominent position overlooking the
growing capital city of Washingto.C.

A single carriage road accessed Arlington Holtdeeaded uphill to the west along the edge of the
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Park of Arlington from the Alexandr&eorgetown Turnpike which bisected the entire estdte

house rested on a terrace above the sloping parkland in which sheep grazed among oak trees and
groves of eastern red cedar that framed views of the river below, and to the city beyond thioestate.

the immediate north and south of the house were both a flower and a vegetable garden, and behind, or
to the west of the house were slave quarters that were built in the same style as the main house.
Beyond the slave quarters, a vast dense forest grew lending a dark and mysterious backdrop to the
estatecontrasting with the large open area of the park to the east of the Tiocised into the woods

and on the other side of a ravine to the west of the house, were stables accessed by a carriage road
spur.

In 1831,Custisi daughter Mary Anna Randolph Custis marriedRbbert E. Lee. The couple called
Arlington home and raised their seven children thegeis military career frequently kept him away

from Arlington but following the death of GWP Custisli857,Lee became the master of Arlington
despite the fact that the estate was actually owned by his wife Mary. Lee took on the responsibility of
managing the estate and lived a contented life with his family at Arlington

Following the eruption of the Civil War on ApiR, 1861, when Confederate artillery opened fire on
Fort Sumter in Charleston Harbor, South Carolires faced the difficult choice of joining forces with

the north, or fighting for the south. He resigned from the Rit®y on April 22, 1861and left Arlington

to command the Virginia forces which he named the Confederate Army of Northern Vitgiaiarent

on to become the leader of the Confederate Army during the Civil\Méay Custis evacuated

Arlington in May of 1861A few days later the Union Army crossed the Potomac River and spread out
over Arlington Estate claiming the land for the north

From 1861 to 1865Arlington was used as the headquarters for the Army of the Potomac during the

Civil War. Troops lived and were trained on the estaténgtonis elevated view and prominent setting

high above Washington gave the army tactical defense advantages and symbolically announced their
presence to the capital ciths forts were established around the borders of Arlington E¢hat@rmy

built a system of roads for better access from headquarters at the house. The landscape began to
transform from a picturesque estate and farm into a more practical landscape where officers and
infantrymen lived and trained among the forests and fields, and where the remaining slaves also resided
and worked to sustain themselves and their families. Under the watchful eyes of the Lee family slaves
who remained on the estate, the house, personal items left by the Lee family, and the gardens and
grounds near the house remained largely unharmed

As the war progressed, and the slaves were relocated, the house and grounds deteriorated. The Park at
Arlington was devastated by the loss of trees that provided the army with timber, Black campfire

circles dotted the larger landscapaths were widened and slopes eroded under the heavy usage by
troops,but somehow Arlington Woods remained largely intBgt 1863 garden fences had disappeared

and the gardens themselves were reduced to trampled mud pits and the terraces were losing their
definition. Some of the only remaining features near the house were the trees that provided valuable
shade to the enlisted men.
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In 1863,Freedmenis Village was established in the southern portion of the estate west of the Turnpike

It was the most famous of several freedmenis camps established by the army on the Potomac River
built to accommodate the influx of fugitive and former slaves into Washingtenvillage was

approximately 400 acres and hosted a community with homes and churches and a school and hospital
where residents could farm nearby government-owned lands to establish financial autonomy through
agriculture. It also included a cemetery nearby which, in 1864, a soldier from Pennsylvania was buried.

In 1864, Arlington Estate was deemed suitable for the location of a national cemetery. It was chosen
because it was owned by the federal governnfienits close proximity to hospitals in Alexandria and
Washingtonfor its picturesque location, for the security from floods that its elevation provided, and
because it was the former home of Leader of the Confederate Army

Under congressional authority, Quartermaster General Montgomery Mgiganinent Washington

D.C. engineer, established 28€res of burial ground that would not interfere with Freedmenis Village
Meigs was made aware that one month before his plan for burials was announced, the soldier from
Pennsylvania was buried near the Freedmenis Village cemé&tesydid not please Meigs. He wanted
soldiers to be buried nearer to the mansion to further secure the locale as a cemetery and to prevent it
from future use as residence. Over sixty enlisted men were buried per day at this time. Despite
protestations from officers living at the mansion who objected to having the men buried so close to
where they were livingederal officers were buried along the flower garden due south of the house
total, forty-five men were buried at this location.

In the mid 1860s, as the land was evolving into a landscape of burials, fences reappeared around the
flower garden, roads were repaired, ground was re-sodded, and terraces and slopes were improved as
Arlington Estate transformed into a national cemetery. Congress appropriated monies for cemetery
improvement, the house was repainted and stuccoed and the cemetery superintendent moved in to
Arlington House. Throughout the late 19th century as the cemetery expanded and as transportation
became easievjsitation to Arlington increasedn 1873, Landscape Gardener David H. Rhodes, hired

by the Quartermaster Generalis offiaso made Arlington House his honténder his authority,

benches and urns were added to the landscape around the building. Rhodes installed planting beds and
foundation plantings along the base of the house to blend it into the landscape. Quartermaster General
Meigs also had opinions as to what kinds of plantings would enhance the landscape near the house, and
rapid improvements ensued.

The land on the former estate that was not used for burial remained a military reservation and was
utilized for agricultureDisbanding of Freedmenis Village began in 1880s after the United States

was deeded clear ownership after a Supreme Court decision, and by 1900, the former 400 acre village
was transferred to the Department of Agriculture and was used as an experimental farm until the land
was returned to the Army prior to World War 1l

A greenhouse stood in the northeast corner of the flower garden from ag10xd880, it was
removed and in 1885 the flower garden underwent a complete redesign. The area was plowed and
regraded, fences were removed and new concrete paths criss-crossed thé& gzuidislee era
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arbor was removed from the center of the garden and was replaced with a large iTempleicd Fame
domed structure with stone columns, entablature and frieze salvaged from a fire at the US Patent
Office. The temple stood for seventy years.

Walks were extended to improve access to the house from the electric railway stops where trolley
trains brought visitors in. Annual beds continued to be maintained and foundation plants at the house
grew larger and the onggaveled yard area around the house was hidden under scored concrete. The
Custis-Lee landscape was becoming less and less apparent beneath all of the modern improvements.

Over the next few decades the national cemetery grew in response the need for burials, memorials and
monuments with every war America fought the 1910s, with the creation of the Commission of Fine

Arts (CFA), an oversight committee which reviewed developments on public property in Washington

D. C.,the idea of restoring Arlington House to a more historic configuration began to take shape and by
the late 1920s, money was appropriated for the cause.

Under the management of the Quartermaster Generalis, affidevith the approval of the CFA
Colonial-Revival style landscape, a popular design style at thewiaseainstalled at Arlington in the
1930s. The design incorporated symmetry, brick sidewalks, boxwood hedges and less floral
ornamentation than had been used previously.

By 1933 the building known then as the iLee Mansioni and the two slave quarters were transferred to
the Department of the Interioris Office of National PaBsildings and Reservations (later called the
National Park Servicayhile the rest of the property remained property of the War Department

A restoration of the kitchen garden took place in the1880s and was complete by 1935. One of the
first phases of the restoration was the removal of a greenhouse built there by the army in 1880. After
this project America was immersed in war and maintenance of the landscape around Arlington House
was reduced to basic upkeep.

In 1947, the kitchen garden, potting shed and yard area (2.374 acres) were transferred in fee simple to
the NPS, spawning yet another massive vegetative rehabilitation and redesign project. In 1959 a bill was
introduced to allow for transfer of the flower garden to the NPS. In 1975 another 24.44 acres were
transferred to the NPS to provide a appropriate backdrop of woods to the west of Arlingtan House
Changes to the appearance of the landscape continued, most based on a 1966 Master Plan generated
by the NPS.

The spatial organization of the historic core that contributes to the historic integrity of the site consists of
buildings, yard, garden terraces and woods. The use of the flower and kitchen gardens as gardens and
the fact that Arlington Woods retain integrity as a wooded area lend integrity to lafdthesxistence

of the house, slave quarters, well and potting shed lend integrity to buildings and structures on site.
Paths, roads and road traces found on site today lend integrity to circulation. The existence of iwitness
treest in Arlington Woodsand the use of compatible plantings in the kitchen and flower gardens lend
some integrity to vegetatiokiews between the flower and kitchen gardesisws from the east side
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of the house towards Washington and views along Lee Avenue north to the house and the broader
southern view lend integrity to views and vistas. Finally, the cluster of buildings comprising the house,
garden and yard area and the cluster of buildings on the other side of the ravine west of the house
where the stables once stood contribute to the integrity of cluster arrangement on site.

The landscape at Arlington Houskhe Robert E. Lee Memorial is in good condition. (Indicates the
inventory unit shows no clear evidence of major negative disturbance and deterioration by natural
and/or human force$he inventory unitis cultural and natural values are as well preserved as can be
expected under the given environmental conditions. No immediate corrective action is required to
maintain its current condition). It retains integrity for the period of significance (1802-1880). The most
pressing issue osite may have to do with loss of acreage to Arlington National Cemetery
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Site Plan
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Lee Memorial Cultural Landscape Report 2001,
Jennifer Hanna, NCR CLP.

Arlington House: The Robert Eee Memorial is located within the boundaries of Arlington
National CemeteryThe colored portions of this map indicate NPS site boundary lines2806f
(NCR CLP2009).
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Arlington House and surrounds during the Civil War occupation period (NCR CLP 2001, 2009).

Cultural Landscapes Inventory Page 10 of 100



